
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 

 

SIAN SHIPLEY,  

  Plaintiff,   

 

 v.        CIVIL ACTION NO. 

       1:20-CV-04295-JPB  

EQUIFAX INFORMATION 

SERVICES, LLC, and FAIR 

COLLECTIONS & OUTSOURCING, 

INC., 

 

 

  Defendants.  

 

ORDER ON FINAL REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

This matter comes before the Court on the Magistrate Judge’s Final Report 

and Recommendation [Doc. 52].  This Court finds as follows:   

BACKGROUND 

A. Factual History 

 Sian Shipley (“Plaintiff”) is a resident of McHenry County, Illinois.  [Doc. 

52, p. 3].  In 2015, an individual unknown to Plaintiff used her first name and her 

maiden name, “Sian Brown,” to lease an apartment at the Berkshire Terminus 

Apartments in Atlanta, Georgia.  Id. at 3–4.  That individual completed a lease 

application for the apartment on January 8, 2015, providing a phone number and 
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email address and using Plaintiff’s maiden name, date of birth and social security 

number.  Id. at 4–5.  The individual included a Georgia driver’s license with the 

application that had a driver’s license number matching Plaintiff’s social security 

number.  Id. at 5. 

 Plaintiff denies ever renting an apartment in Georgia and has used her 

married name of “Shipley” since 2011.  Id. at 4.  Plaintiff also denies ever having a 

Georgia driver’s license; having a driver’s license from any state where the license 

number matched her social security number; and using the phone number and 

email address listed on the lease application.  Id. at 5.  Plaintiff reported the 

identity theft to law enforcement in January 2015.  Id. at 4.  A law enforcement 

officer advised Plaintiff to address the issue with the credit reporting agencies 

(“CRAs”) directly and not to communicate or provide personal information to any 

debt collectors.  Id. at 8.   

1. Disputes Reported to Defendant 

 On May 15, 2015, the account at Berkshire Terminus Apartments that was 

attributed to Plaintiff (the “Berkshire Account”) was assigned for collection to Fair 

Collections & Outsourcing, Inc., (“Defendant”), a collection agency.  Id. at 5.  The 

creditor provided Defendant with a copy of the lease application and contract for 

residence at Berkshire Terminus, as well as the final account statement.  Id. at 5–6.   
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 On May 26, 2015, Defendant called a party who it believed was the debtor 

(in turn, who Defendant believed to be Plaintiff).  Id. at 6.  That party said she 

would “rather do business with [her] own credit agency” and, when Defendant 

called her again on May 27, 2015, asked Defendant to stop calling her.  Id.  

 Plaintiff called Defendant on July 29, 2015, and stated that her identity had 

been stolen and that she had a police report.  Id.  Defendant provided Plaintiff with 

a fax number for sending this information to Defendant.1  Id.  During discovery, 

Plaintiff produced an “Incident/Investigation Report” dated August 17, 2015, from 

the Manatee County Sheriff’s Office.  Id. at 6–7.  Plaintiff testified that she faxed 

the report to Defendant but conceded that she had no confirmation of the fax.  Id. 

at 7.  Defendant has no record of receiving the report.2  Id.   

 
1 Defendant maintains guidelines for investigating claims of fraud and identity theft.  

[Doc. 52, p. 10].  Under these guidelines, Defendant reviews all documentation provided 

by consumers and by Defendant’s clients to determine the validity of a claim based on a 

preponderance of the evidence.  Id.  When Defendant receives a dispute asserting identity 

theft or fraud, whether directly from the consumer or from a CRA, Defendant sends the 

consumer a Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) fraud packet.  Id.  In the fraud packet, 

Defendant asks the consumer to provide a copy of an identity theft report filed with the 

FTC or a police report, a copy of their government-issued identification and proof of 

address during the time in question.  Id.  Defendant’s employees investigating consumer 

identity theft disputes have access to Defendant’s collector software system, including all 

collection notes, all documents provided by Defendant’s clients and any documents 

provided by the consumer.  Id. 
2 It is undisputed that the report was not in Defendant’s files when it conducted its 

investigations upon receipt of Plaintiff’s disputes from Equifax and TransUnion, 

discussed infra.  [Doc. 52, p. 7]. 
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 Defendant first reported the Berkshire Account to the CRAs on August 17, 

2015.  Id. at 8.  On August 29, 2015, Defendant sent Plaintiff a letter stating that it 

had received notice that she disputed the Berkshire Account and requesting that 

Plaintiff complete and return an enclosed identity theft affidavit.  Id.  Although the 

letter was mailed to Plaintiff’s then-current mailing address, it was returned as 

undelivered to Defendant.  Id. at 9. 

 Plaintiff called Defendant on March 12, 2018, and stated that the Berkshire 

Account was fraudulent.  Id.  On that call, Defendant informed Plaintiff that it 

needed a police report or a completed fraud packet to proceed.  Id.  Plaintiff 

responded that she would complete and return the fraud packet once she received it 

and would provide supporting documentation for her claim.  Id.  Defendant sent 

Plaintiff a fraud packet, which included an identity theft affidavit, on March 13, 

2018.  Id. at 10.  Defendant never received a response from Plaintiff, and Plaintiff 

admits that she did not return the identity theft affidavit.  Id. at 11. 

 Defendant sent Plaintiff a second letter with an identity theft affidavit on 

February 11, 2020.  Id.  Defendant did not receive a response to that letter, and 

Plaintiff could not recall completing the enclosed affidavit.  Id. at 11–12.  
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2. Disputes Reported to the CRAs 

 In May 2020, Plaintiff noticed that Equifax, a CRA, was reporting a 

collection account to her credit history that did not belong to her.  Id. at 12.  The 

account data was furnished by Defendant and identified Berkshire Terminus 

Apartments as the creditor with an outstanding balance of $7,001.  Id.  That same 

month, Plaintiff observed that TransUnion, another CRA, was reporting the same 

account.3  Id.  Plaintiff disputed the account with Equifax and with TransUnion, 

explaining that the account was not hers.  Id.   

 On May 8, 2020, Equifax sent an automated credit dispute verification form 

(“ACDV”) to Defendant notifying it of Plaintiff’s dispute.  Id. at 13.  Equifax 

represented in the ACDV that the “consumer reports that this account does not 

belong to her.”  Id.  Defendant investigated Plaintiff’s dispute by reviewing the 

lease associated with the Berkshire Account to confirm identifiers for Plaintiff, 

reviewing the account ledger to confirm the amount owed and contacting the 

creditor to confirm the accuracy of the identifiers in Defendant’s records.  Id.  

Defendant also reviewed the documents it received from the creditor when the 

 
3 TransUnion also reported a second account that Plaintiff alleged did not belong to her.  

[Doc. 52, p. 12].  That account is not at issue in this case; Plaintiff filed suit in the Middle 

District of Florida against the collection agency reporting the second account.  See 

Shipley v. Hunter Warfield, Inc., No. 8:20-CV-2285, 2021 WL 5756618 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 

29, 2021).  
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Berkshire Account was assigned for collection; these documents included the 

completed lease application, contract for residence and final account statement.  Id. 

at 14.  However, the information in these documents was identical to Plaintiff’s 

information, with the exception of her maiden name being used to open the 

account.  Id.  Defendant thus reported to Equifax that the disputed information was 

accurate.  Id.  Equifax informed Plaintiff on June 2, 2020, that the account had 

been verified as belonging to her.  Id. 

 On May 23, 2020, Defendant received notice of Plaintiff’s dispute from 

TransUnion.  Id. at 15.  TransUnion represented in the accompanying ACDV that 

Plaintiff “claims true identity fraud, account fraudulently opened.  Provide or 

confirm complete ID.”  Id.  In its subsequent investigation, Defendant found that 

the first name on the account matched Plaintiff’s and that the debt was reported to 

Plaintiff’s maiden name instead of her married name.  Id.  Defendant further 

determined that the reported home address, date of birth, social security number, 

amount due and identity of the creditor all matched those in Defendant’s records.  

Id.  Having investigated the dispute pursuant to its identity theft investigation 

policies, Defendant reported to TransUnion that the disputed information was 

accurate.  Id.  On June 2, 2020, TransUnion notified Plaintiff that Defendant had 

verified the disputed information.  Id. 
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 Defendant received another dispute notice from Equifax on June 6, 2020.  

Id.  The ACDV stated that Plaintiff “claims true identity fraud, account 

fraudulently opened.  Provide or confirm complete ID.”  Id. at 15–16.  After 

investigating this dispute, Defendant made the same findings that it made in 

response to the May 23, 2020 TransUnion dispute and thus reported that the 

disputed information was accurate.  Id. at 16.  Equifax informed Plaintiff on June 

14, 2020, that Defendant had researched the account and confirmed that it 

belonged to her.  Id. 

 Defendant received another ACDV from Equifax on September 9, 2020, 

conveying that Plaintiff “[c]laims true identity fraud, account fraudulently opened.  

Provide or confirm complete ID.”  Id.  (alteration in original).  This time, Plaintiff 

provided a copy of her Illinois driver’s license (issued on July 14, 2020) with her 

dispute to Equifax, and Equifax transmitted an image of the license along with the 

ACDV.  Id.  Defendant investigated the dispute and reached the same conclusions 

it reached in the prior disputes (i.e., the reported first name matched Plaintiff’s 

name, although the debt was reported to Plaintiff’s maiden name, and the reported 

home address, date of birth, social security number, amount due and identity of the 

creditor matched those in Defendant’s records).  Id. at 16–17.  Defendant reported 
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the information as accurate, and on September 23, 2020, Equifax notified Plaintiff 

that Defendant had verified the disputed information.  Id. at 17. 

B. Procedural History 

 Plaintiff filed suit on October 20, 2020.4  [Doc. 1].  Plaintiff asserted a single 

claim against Defendant under the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”).  Id. at 8.  

Specifically, Plaintiff alleged that Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681s-2(b) by 

failing to perform reasonable investigations of her disputes.  Id. at 9–10.  

 Defendant moved for summary judgment on July 23, 2021, arguing that it 

conducted reasonable investigations of Plaintiff’s disputes and that it reported its 

findings in a timely fashion.  [Doc. 42]; see also [Doc. 42-1, pp. 19, 27].  Plaintiff 

opposed summary judgment on the grounds that triable issues of fact remained 

regarding the reasonableness of Defendant’s investigations.  [Doc. 48, p. 2].  

Magistrate Judge Walter E. Johnson issued a Final Report and Recommendation 

on October 29, 2021, recommending that this Court grant Defendant’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment.  [Doc. 52, p. 2].  Plaintiff filed objections to the Report and 

Recommendation on November 12, 2021.  [Doc. 54]. 

   

 
4 Plaintiff also named Equifax as a defendant.  However, Plaintiff resolved her claim 

against Equifax and filed a Notice of Settlement on July 19, 2021.  [Doc. 41]. 
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ANALYSIS 

A. Legal Standard 

A district judge has broad discretion to accept, reject or modify a magistrate 

judge’s proposed findings and recommendations.  United States v. Raddatz, 447 

U.S. 667, 680 (1980).  Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1), the Court reviews any 

portion of the Report and Recommendation that is the subject of a proper objection 

on a de novo basis and any non-objected-to portion under a “clearly erroneous” 

standard.  A party objecting to a recommendation “must specifically identify those 

findings objected to.  Frivolous, conclusive, or general objections need not be 

considered by the district court.”  Marsden v. Moore, 847 F.2d 1536, 1548 (11th 

Cir. 1988).  Placing this burden on the objecting party “‘facilitates the opportunity 

for district judges to spend more time on matters actually contested and produces a 

result compatible with the purposes of the Magistrates Act.’”  United States v. 

Schultz, 565 F.3d 1353, 1361 (11th Cir. 2009) (quoting Nettles v. Wainwright, 677 

F.2d 404, 409–10 (5th Cir. Unit B 1982)).   

Under the FCRA, CRAs and entities that furnish information to CRAs 

(“furnishers”) must investigate disputed information.  See Hinkle v. Midland 

Credit Mgmt., 827 F.3d 1295, 1301 (11th Cir. 2016).  When a furnisher receives 

notice of a dispute from a CRA, it must (1) “conduct an investigation with respect 
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to the disputed information;” (2) “review all relevant information provided by the 

[CRA];” and (3) “report the results of the investigation to the [CRA].”  15 U.S.C. § 

1681s-2(b).  Courts evaluate investigations conducted under § 1681s-2(b) by the 

“touchstone” of reasonableness.  Hinkle, 827 F.3d at 1302.  “Whether a furnisher’s 

investigation is reasonable will depend in part on the status of the furnisher—as an 

original creditor, a collection agency collecting on behalf of the original creditor, a 

debt buyer, or a down-the-line buyer—and on the quality of documentation 

available to the furnisher.”  Id.  Further, when a furnisher reports disputed 

information as accurate, “the question of whether the furnisher behaved reasonably 

will turn on whether the furnisher acquired sufficient evidence to support the 

conclusion that the information was true.”  Id. at 1303.  The reasonableness of a 

furnisher’s investigation is ordinarily a factual question reserved for trial.  Id.  

Notably, consumers have a private right of action against furnishers for a violation 

of § 1681s-2(b) “only if the furnisher received notice of the consumer’s dispute 

from a [CRA].”  Green v. RBS Nat’l Bank, 288 F. App’x 641, 642 (11th Cir. 

2008); see also, e.g., Bauer v. Target Corp., No. 8:12-CV-00978, 2013 WL 

12155951, at *7 (M.D. Fla. June 19, 2013) (“To be sure, a furnisher’s duties under 

the FCRA are not triggered until the furnisher receives notice of a consumer’s 

dispute from a CRA.”).  
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B. Plaintiff’s Objections  

 Plaintiff objected to the Report and Recommendation on two grounds.  First, 

Plaintiff argues that the Report and Recommendation “erroneously decided 

multiple material facts in favor of [Defendant], the moving party.”  [Doc. 54, p. 3].  

Plaintiff makes this argument with regard to two conclusions allegedly drawn in 

the Report and Recommendation:  (1) that it was reasonable for Defendant to 

verify its credit reporting since Plaintiff did not return an identity theft affidavit 

and (2) that receipt of the identity theft affidavit was the only way to provide 

Defendant with the necessary information to resolve the dispute.  Second, Plaintiff 

contends that the Report and Recommendation should have been guided by 

binding authority from the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals but instead 

improperly relied on an unpublished, out-of-circuit case.  The Court will address 

Plaintiff’s objections in turn.   

1. Resolution of Triable Issues of Fact 

 Plaintiff’s first objection is that the Report and Recommendation usurped the 

jury’s role by resolving triable issues of fact in Defendant’s favor. 

i. Conclusions Regarding the Identity Theft Affidavits 

 Plaintiff argues that the Report and Recommendation “concluded it was 

reasonable for [Defendant] to verify its credit reporting since [Plaintiff] did not 
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return the requested identity theft affidavit” and that this conclusion improperly 

resolved a material fact in Defendant’s favor.  [Doc. 54, p. 3].  Plaintiff also argues 

that a jury could find that it was unreasonable for Defendant to refrain from 

investigating her disputes until it received an identity theft affidavit from Plaintiff. 

 The Court is unconvinced that the Report and Recommendation reached the 

conclusion to which Plaintiff objects.  First, neither on the page cited by Plaintiff 

nor elsewhere in the Report and Recommendation does the Magistrate Judge reach 

the express conclusion that it was reasonable for Defendant to verify its credit 

reporting since Plaintiff did not provide an identity theft affidavit.  The page cited 

by Plaintiff includes a discussion of Defendant’s procedures for investigating 

disputes of fraud and identity theft.  See [Doc. 52, p. 24].  That page does not refer 

to the reasonableness of Defendant’s actions regarding the verification of its credit 

reporting and/or the absence of an identity theft affidavit from Plaintiff.  And the 

Court does not perceive any such conclusion elsewhere in the Report and 

Recommendation.  An objecting party must “pinpoint the specific findings that the 

party disagrees with,” and although Plaintiff has pointed to a page number in the 

Report and Recommendation, Plaintiff has objected to a finding that the Magistrate 

Judge did not make.  United States v. Schulz, 565 F.3d 1353, 1360 (11th Cir. 

2009).  
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 Furthermore, Plaintiff’s objection reflects an unduly narrow interpretation of 

the Report and Recommendation’s analysis of Defendant’s investigation.  The 

Magistrate Judge does conclude that “[t]he undisputed material facts show that 

[Defendant] followed its policies here.”  Id.  But that conclusion follows an 

analysis of Defendant’s entire investigative approach—which included contacting 

Plaintiff, mailing her multiple fraud packets, reviewing its internal records as well 

as those of the creditor and conferring with the creditor to confirm the information 

in Defendant’s internal records.  Contrary to Plaintiff’s assertion, the Magistrate 

Judge did not conclude that it was reasonable for Defendant “to verify its credit 

reporting since [Plaintiff] did not return the identity theft affidavit,” [Doc. 54, p. 3]; 

the Magistrate Judge concluded that that it was reasonable for Defendant to verify 

its credit reporting because it completed a thorough investigation of Plaintiff’s 

disputes pursuant to its policies. 

 The Eleventh Circuit has declined to hold that failing to respond to a letter 

like Defendant’s fraud packet is “dispositive at summary judgment” for a claim 

under § 1681s-2(b).  Hinkle, 827 F.3d at 1306.  But Defendant did not send 

Plaintiff any fraud packets in response to the May, June and September 2020 

disputes from the CRAs; Defendant did so only in response to the disputes Plaintiff 

reported to it directly.  However, only the investigations in response to the disputes 
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reported by the CRAs are actionable.  Green, 288 F. App’x at 642; see, e.g., Peart 

v. Shippie, 345 F. App’x 384, 386 (11th Cir. 2009).  Further, although Defendant 

did not send Plaintiff a fraud packet after receiving the disputes reported by the 

CRAs, the FCRA does not require furnishers to contact consumers directly as part 

of a reasonable investigation.  Bauer, 2013 WL 12155951, at *5.  Therefore, even 

if the Report and Recommendation did reach the conclusion that Plaintiff alleges it 

did, such a conclusion withstands objection. 

 Plaintiff also argues that a jury could find that Defendant’s “refusal to 

investigate until it received its completed [identity theft affidavit] from [Plaintiff] 

was unreasonable.”  [Doc. 54, p. 4].  However, Defendant did not refuse to 

investigate the disputes it received from the CRAs; upon receipt of the ACDV 

from Equifax in May 2020, it promptly investigated Plaintiff’s dispute and did so 

for the subsequent disputes from Equifax and TransUnion.  It appears from the 

record that Defendant did not investigate the disputes it received directly from 

Plaintiff prior to May 2020.  As noted above, though, Plaintiff may not challenge 

Defendant’s investigations, or lack thereof, that were not the result of a notice from 

a CRA.  See, e.g., Boyd v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., No. 2:15-CV-2, 2016 WL 

7323293, at *7 (S.D. Ga. Dec. 14, 2016) (noting that the plaintiff could not 

“directly challenge” an investigation “because it pre-dated Wells Fargo receiving 
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Equifax’s notice of [the plaintiff’s] dispute”), aff’d sub nom. Boyd v. Experian 

Info. Sols., Inc., 692 F. App’x 980 (11th Cir. 2017).  Plaintiff’s claim is necessarily 

limited to the investigations that Defendant conducted in response to the CRA 

dispute notices.  As such, whether a jury would find it reasonable that Defendant 

refrained from investigating Plaintiff’s prior disputes is not relevant for 

adjudicating the instant claim. 

ii. Other Means to Resolve Dispute 

Plaintiff argues next that the Report and Recommendation “implies [that] 

receipt of the identity theft affidavit was the only way to provide [Defendant] with 

information that could have been used to resolve the dispute.”  [Doc. 54, p. 4].  

Plaintiff takes issue with this alleged implication because she argues that 

Defendant’s records contained sufficient information to resolve her disputes.  

Further, according to Plaintiff, a jury could find that a reasonable investigation 

would have consisted of a number of actions that Defendant did not take. 

Plaintiff alleges that “exculpatory information was already present in 

[Defendant’s] records had [Defendant] bothered to investigate further.”  Id.  

Specifically, Plaintiff seems to argue that Defendant could have uncovered this 

exculpatory information by taking steps such as comparing Plaintiff’s signature 

with the signature on the lease application; investigating why the driver’s license 
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number on the license included with the lease application matched Plaintiff’s social 

security number; confirming contact information, references and employers listed 

on the lease application; comparing the residence listed on the lease application 

with Plaintiff’s residence listed on her credit report; and/or requesting further 

information from the creditor about payments it received toward the Berkshire 

Account.  Plaintiff contends that the Report and Recommendation “substituted its 

own belief that such inquiries were either unreasonable or unproductive” rather 

than “leaving these factual questions for the jury to decide.”  Id. at 5.  

It is true that the Report and Recommendation considered the reasonableness 

of the measures Plaintiff suggests, such as comparing handwriting samples, 

confirming the validity of the Georgia driver’s license submitted with the lease 

application and verifying the phone number and email address listed on the 

application, and concluded that these measures fell outside the scope of a 

reasonable investigation.  Nevertheless, the proper inquiry is not what a 

hypothetical investigation would reasonably entail; it is instead whether the 

investigation that in fact took place was reasonable.  This Court finds that in this 

case, it was.  

In Hinkle, the Eleventh Circuit analyzed the text of § 1681s-2(b) and 

concluded that this provision “requires some degree of careful inquiry by 
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furnishers of information.”  827 F.3d at 1303.  “When a furnisher has access to 

dispute-related information beyond the information provided by the CRA, it will 

often be reasonable for the furnisher to review that additional information and 

conduct its investigation accordingly.”  Id. at 1306.  Finally, when a furnisher 

verifies disputed information following an investigation, whether that investigation 

is reasonable “will turn on whether the furnisher acquired sufficient evidence to 

support the conclusion that the information was true.”  Id. at 1303.   

Here, Defendant concluded that the Berkshire Account belonged to Plaintiff 

after comparing the information in the ACDVs with its internal records, reviewing 

the creditor’s records (including the lease application, contract for residence and 

final account statement) and conferring directly with the creditor to confirm the 

accuracy of Defendant’s internal records.  The Court considers this investigation to 

be the kind of “careful inquiry” mandated by § 1681s-2(b) and by the Eleventh 

Circuit.  Defendant had “access to dispute-related information beyond the 

information provided by the CRA[s],” in the form of the lease application, contract 

for residence and final account statement, and as suggested by the Eleventh 

Circuit, Defendant reviewed that information and investigated accordingly.  Id. at 

1306.  And because all of the information, save for Plaintiff’s maiden name, was 
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consistent across these records, the Court concludes that Defendant obtained 

sufficient evidence to support its finding that the account belonged to Plaintiff.5   

The FCRA does not require Defendant to conduct a flawless investigation.  

It requires a reasonable one, which may necessarily balance the costs of certain 

investigative measures and consequently be limited in scope.  See, e.g., Bauer, 

2013 WL 12155951, at *7 (“A fact-finder should consider the cost of verifying the 

accuracy of the information versus the possible harm of reporting inaccurate 

information.” (quoting Van Veen v. Equifax Info., 844 F. Supp. 2d 599, 605 (E.D. 

Pa. 2012))).  Finally, “an investigation is not unreasonable simply because its result 

is unfavorable to the consumer, even if the result of the investigation turns out to 

be inaccurate.”  Id. at *5. 

 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff’s objections on the basis that the Report 

and Recommendation resolved triable issues of fact are OVERRULED. 

 

 

 
5 While not necessarily dispositive, it is undisputed that Defendant had policies in place 

for the investigation of identity theft disputes and that Defendant followed those policies 

in the instant case.  [Doc. 52, p. 24]; cf. King v. Asset Acceptance, LLC, 452 F. Supp. 2d 

1272, 1279 (N.D. Ga. 2006) (finding that an issue of fact existed as to the reasonableness 

of a furnisher’s investigation where the furnisher had “internal procedures for 

investigation of suspected fraudulent accounts” but failed to follow them).   
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2. Reliance on Out-of-Circuit Decisions 

 Plaintiff’s second objection is that the Report and Recommendation 

improperly relied on an unpublished, out-of-circuit decision that contradicts 

binding legal authority in the Eleventh Circuit.  The Magistrate Judge expressly 

noted that his recommendation was “guided by” a case from the Southern District 

of Indiana that was cited by Defendant in its motion for summary judgment, 

Woods v. LVNV Funding, LLC, No. 1:19-CV-03451, 2021 WL 1758952 (S.D. 

Ind. May 4, 2021), appeal filed, Woods v. LVNV Funding, LLC, No. 21-1981 (7th 

Cir. May 25, 2021); see [Doc. 52, p. 29].  Plaintiff contends that the Report and 

Recommendation should have relied on Hinkle and, in so doing, would have 

reached a different result.  

 Plaintiff argues that the evidence in her case “unequivocally establishes that 

[Defendant] engaged in nothing more than data conformity,” which Plaintiff 

alleges was condemned by Hinkle.  [Doc. 54, p. 8].  In Hinkle, the plaintiff argued 

that the defendant, a down-the-line buyer,6 failed to conduct a reasonable 

 
6 A down-the-line buyer is several steps removed from the original creditor.  When a 

consumer debt becomes delinquent, the original creditor may attempt to collect the debt 

itself or may contract a third-party agent (e.g., a collection agency) to collect the debt on 

behalf of the original creditor.  Hinkle, 827 F.3d at 1297.  The original creditor may 

alternatively sell the debt to a debt buyer, who may in turn resell the debt to another debt 

buyer (a “down-the-line buyer”).  Id. at 1297–98.  The defendant in Hinkle was one such 
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investigation of a disputed account.  827 F.3d at 1301.  The Eleventh Circuit 

agreed, noting that the defendant’s investigation consisted “at most” of “double-

checking the information it had reported to the CRAs against its own electronic-

data files” and sending the plaintiff a letter stating that it would be “helpful” to 

receive any supporting documentation related to the dispute.  Id.  More 

specifically, the Hinkle defendant did not consult any “account-level 

documentation” related to the allegedly fraudulent account.7  Id. at 1305.  The 

court concluded that a reasonable jury could find the failure to do so unreasonable, 

especially since the defendant was able to consult account-level documentation but 

simply chose not to.  Id. 

 Hinkle, though, drew an important distinction between down-the-line buyers 

like the defendant in that case and other, differently situated entities:  for example, 

“a collection agency in a direct relationship with the original creditor” might “more 

reasonably rely on its internal records than can [a down-the-line buyer].”  Id. at 

 

“down-the-line buyer.”  Id. at 1298.  Defendant in this case, though, is a collection 

agency and thus only one step removed from the original creditor.  
7 As a down-the-line buyer, the Hinkle defendant received only a “data file containing 

electronically-stored information about the debt such as the amount of the debt, the name 

of the original creditor, the charge-off date, and the personal information associated with 

the debt.”  Hinkle, 827 F.3d at 1298.  However, the defendant’s purchase agreement with 

the debt buyer from whom it purchased the debt permitted the defendant to acquire 

account-level documentation, such as documents from the original creditor, to assist in 

resolving disputes.  Id.  
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1305–06 (citing Westra v. Credit Control of Pinellas, 409 F.3d 825 (7th Cir. 

2005)); see also id. at 1302 (“Whether a furnisher’s investigation is reasonable will 

depend in part on the status of the furnisher—as an original creditor, a collection 

agency collecting on behalf of the original creditor, or a down-the-line 

buyer . . . .”).  As “an agent of the original creditor,” Defendant here may 

permissibly have relied on its internal records to a greater extent than the defendant 

in Hinkle.  Id. at 1305.  But as explained earlier, Defendant did not merely rely on 

an internal data check; Defendant verified the records from the creditor, too, and 

even conferred directly with the creditor.   

 To illustrate her argument that looking to Hinkle would produce a different 

outcome, Plaintiff points to another case she filed in the Middle District of Florida 

against a different furnisher, in which the court denied the defendant’s motion for 

summary judgment on a similarly styled FCRA claim.  See Shipley v. Hunter 

Warfield, Inc., No. 8:20-CV-2285, 2021 WL 5756618, at *9 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 29, 

2021).  In Hunter Warfield, the court noted that the defendant’s “main argument—

that [Plaintiff] did not provide [the defendant] with all the information it requested 

from her, like a police report—was directly addressed by the Eleventh Circuit in 

Hinkle and disposed of as not being dispositive on the issue of the reasonableness 

of the furnisher’s investigation.”  Id. at *8.  According to Plaintiff, this shows that 
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had the Magistrate Judge in this case relied on Hinkle, he would have reached a 

different conclusion.  This Court does not agree.  As noted earlier, the Report and 

Recommendation did not rest its conclusion that Defendant’s investigation was 

reasonable solely on Plaintiff’s failure to provide supporting documentation.  The 

Report and Recommendation found, and this Court agreed, that Defendant 

conducted a reasonable investigation according to its policies for handling identity 

theft disputes, despite Plaintiff’s failure to return the identity theft affidavits.8  

Therefore, while the Court acknowledges that Woods is not binding in the 

Eleventh Circuit, the Court does not agree that Hinkle mandates a different 

outcome for Plaintiff.  Therefore, Plaintiff’s objection as to the Report and 

Recommendation’s reliance on an out-of-circuit opinion is OVERRULED. 

  CONCLUSION 

After reviewing the entirety of the Report and Recommendation and 

considering Plaintiff’s objections, the Final Report and Recommendation is 

ADOPTED IN PART as the order of this Court.  For the reasons stated by the 

 
8 The Court also notes that Plaintiff’s other case is readily distinguishable from the 

present matter.  In Hunter Warfield, Plaintiff introduced expert testimony about 

deficiencies in the defendant’s investigation procedures.  2021 WL 5756618, at *8.  

Plaintiff has introduced no such evidence here and, in fact, did not object to the Report 

and Recommendation’s finding that Defendant followed its established procedures for 

investigating claims of identity theft.   
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Magistrate Judge and for the reasons stated herein, Defendant’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment [Doc. 42] is GRANTED.  The Clerk is DIRECTED to close 

the case. 

SO ORDERED this 25th day of January, 2022. 

 

 

_______________________ 

      J. P. BOULEE 

      United States District Judge 
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